## LEGISLATIVE COUNCIL BRIEF

## Village Representative Election Ordinance (No. 2 of 2003)

## VILLAGE REPRESENTATIVE (ELECTION PETITION) RULES

## **INTRODUCTION**

On 29 May 2003, the Chief Justice ("CJ") made the Village Representative (Election Petition) Rules ("the Rules") at **Annex A** to provide for matters relating to the carrying out of election petitions for elections held under the Village Representative Election Ordinance (2 of 2003).

## **BACKGROUND AND ARGUMENT**

2. The Village Representative Election Ordinance ("the Election Ordinance") was gazetted and came into operation on 14 February 2003. It provides a general legal framework for the conduct of the 2003 Village Representative (VR) elections as well as elections in subsequent years. Background information on the VR elections is at **Annex B**.

3. An election under the Election Ordinance may be questioned on specific grounds by an election petition lodged under s. 40 of the Election Ordinance. Under s. 40, an election petition may be lodged –

- (a) by 5 or more electors entitled to vote at the election; or
- (b) by a person claiming to have been a candidate at the election.

4. Under s. 66 of the Election Ordinance, the Chief Justice may make rules to provide for –

- (a) the preparation, lodgement, service, trial and withdrawal of election petitions;
- (b) costs in respect of election petitions and the giving of security for such costs;
- (c) the practice and procedure concerning the trial of election petitions; and

(d) any other matters for the better carrying out of the objects and purpose of Part 5 of the Election Ordinance concerning election petitions.

5. With the enactment of the Election Ordinance, the CJ needs to make a new set of rules to set out the arrangement for election petitions relating to VR elections. The VR elections will be conducted on the Saturdays and Sundays between 12 July and 17 August 2003 for six consecutive weeks.

# THE RULES

6. The Rules basically model on the District Councils (Election Petition) Rules, relating to the arrangement for election petitions regarding District Council elections. The Rules contain similar provisions on the lodgement and service of election petitions, the security for costs to be given in respect of election petitions, the trial of election petitions, the withdrawal of election petitions, the stay, dismissal and termination of election petitions, and the costs of election petitions. Where necessary, the Rules have made suitable adaptations to take into account different requirements in the Election Ordinance.

# LEGISLATIVE TIMETABLE

7. The Rules will be gazetted on 6 June 2003 and tabled in the Legislative Council on 11 June 2003.

# **BASIC LAW AND HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS**

8. The Rules are in conformity with the Basic Law, including the provisions concerning human rights.

## **BINDING EFFECT OF THE LEGISLATION**

9. The Rules will not affect the binding effect of the principal Ordinance.

## FINANCIAL AND CIVIL SERVICE IMPLICATIONS

10. There will not be additional financial and staffing implications.

## ECONOMIC IMPLICATIONS

11. There are no economic implications.

# ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

12. There are no environmental implications.

# SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENT

13. There are no sustainability implications.

# PUBLIC CONSULTATION

14. The Rules are drawn up along the practices in other public elections and in accordance with the provisions in the Election Ordinance. There will be no public consultation given the technical nature of the proposal.

# PUBLICITY

15. A press release will be issued. A spokesman will be made available to answer media and public enquiries.

# ENQUIRIES

16. Any enquiry on this brief can be addressed to Ms. Monica Chen, Assistant Director of Home Affairs (tel. no. 2835 1423, or Mr. Jacky Lum, District Officer/Tuen Mun (tel. no. 2451 3030).

Home Affairs Department June 2003

#### Annex A

## VILLAGE REPRESENTATIVE (ELECTION PETITION) RULES

## CONTENTS

| Section  |   | Page |
|----------|---|------|
| 1.       | Interpretation  | 1    |
| 2.       | General practice and procedure                                    | 1    |
| 3.       | Filing of documents   | 1    |
| 4.       | Form of election petition   | 2    |
| 5.       | Signature and lodgement of election petition                      | 2    |
| 6.       | Notice of lodgement of election petition                          | 3    |
| 7.       | Manner of application for directions in chambers                  | 3    |
| 8.       | Affidavit of proposed surety to be filed and served on respondent | 4    |
| 9.       | Grounds of objection to recognizance                              | 4    |
| 10.      | Date, time and place for trial of election petition               | 5    |
| 11.      | Trial of election petition  | 6    |
| 12.      | List of objections in recriminatory case                          | 7    |
| 13.      | Application for leave to withdraw election petition               | 8    |
| 14.      | Evidence required for withdrawal of election petition             | 9    |
| 15.      | Application to stay or dismiss election petition                  | 10   |
| 16.      | Notice of termination of election petition                        | 11   |
| 17.      | Notice of death, etc. of respondent                               | 11   |
| 18.      | Filing copy particulars   | 12   |
| 19.      | Notice of respondent's solicitor and service of notices           | 12   |
| 20.      | Witnesses' expenses   | 13   |
| 21.      | Costs of election petition  | 13   |
| 22.      | Forfeiture of recognizance  | 15   |
| Schedule | Election petition   | 15   |

### VILLAGE REPRESENTATIVE (ELECTION PETITION) RULES

(Made under section 66 of the Village Representative Election Ordinance (2 of 2003))

### 1. Interpretation

In these Rules, unless the context otherwise requires -

"election agent" (選舉代理人) means an election agent appointed under section

22 of the Electoral Procedure (Village Representative Election) Regulation (L.N. 82 of 2003);

"judge" (法官) means a judge of the Court of First Instance of the High Court;

"petitioner" (呈請人) -

- (a) in relation to an election petition, means the person who lodges the petition; or
- (b) in relation to an application under section 13(5)(b), means the person who is substituted as a petitioner;

"Registrar" (司法常務官) means the Registrar of the High Court;

"respondent" (答辯人), in relation to an election petition, means the person named as the respondent in the petition.

## 2. General practice and procedure

Subject to Part 5 of the Ordinance and to these Rules, the practice and procedure of the High Court, including the rules relating to the discovery and inspection of documents and the delivery of interrogatories, apply to an election petition as nearly as circumstances permit as if it were an ordinary action within the jurisdiction of the High Court.

## 3. Filing of documents

(1) A document required to be filed in proceedings relating to an election petition shall be filed in the Registry of the High Court.

(2) The High Court Fees Rules (Cap. 4 sub. leg. D) apply to proceedings relating to an election petition, with appropriate changes.

#### 4. Form of election petition

An election petition shall be in the form set out in the Schedule.

## 5. Signature and lodgement of election petition

- (1) An election petition shall be
  - (a) signed by the petitioner or by each petitioner if there is more than one; and
  - (b) lodged in the Court together with 4 copies of it.
- (2) The Registrar shall, as soon as possible after the election petition is

lodged -

- (a) give a receipt for it;
- (b) send a certified copy of it to the Director and to the Electoral Affairs Commission;
- (c) display a certified copy of it in a conspicuous place in the High Court Building; and
- (d) publish a notice in the Gazette, stating that an election petition has been lodged and specifying the parties concerned.

(3) The Registrar shall display a list of the election petitions in a conspicuous place in the High Court Building.

(4) The Director shall, as soon as possible after receiving a copy of the election petition, display it on the notice board at the District Office that is appropriate having regard to the Rural Committee specified for the Village concerned in Schedule 1, 2 or 3 of the Ordinance.

#### 6. Notice of lodgement of election petition

(1) The petitioner shall, within 2 days of the lodgement of the election petition or such other period as the Court may direct, serve on –

(a) the respondent; and

(b) the Secretary for Justice,

a notice of the lodgement of the election petition and a copy of the election petition.

(2) The notice shall state the nature of the security for costs which the petitioner proposes to give.

(3) The notice and the copy of the election petition shall be served in the manner in which a writ of summons is served. The petitioner shall file an affidavit of service as soon as possible after they are served.

# 7. Manner of application for directions in chambers

(1) The petitioner shall –

- (a) at the time of lodging the election petition;
- (b) within 2 days after lodging the election petition; or
- (c) within such other period as the Court may direct,

apply to the Court for directions under section 44(2) of the Ordinance.

(2) The petitioner may, subject to section 44(2) of the Ordinance, specify in the application the amount of security that he proposes to give in respect of the election petition.

(3) Subject to subsection (5), the application under subsection (1) shall be made by summons to a judge in chambers.

(4) The return day of an application under subsection (1) shall be –

- (a) not later than 5 days after lodging the election petition; or
- (b) within the period directed by the Court for giving security for all costs under section 44(1) of the Ordinance.

(5) Where the petitioner proposes to give the maximum amount of security that may be directed under section 44(2) of the Ordinance, he may, by ex parte summons, apply for directions that the security be given in that maximum amount and by the deposit of money.

(6) Where the petitioner makes an application under subsection (5), the Registrar shall, by endorsement on the summons, order the petitioner to appear –

- (a) on a date, which shall be not later than 5 days after the lodgement of the election petition; and
- (b) at a time and a place,

directed by the Registrar.

# 8. Affidavit of proposed surety to be filed and served on respondent

(1) If the petitioner proposes to give security wholly or partly by a recognizance entered into by a surety or sureties, the petitioner shall, together with the application referred to in section 7(1), file an affidavit sworn by the proposed surety or each proposed surety.

(2) The affidavit of a surety shall –

- (a) specify the sum in which it is proposed the surety should be bound by a recognizance; and
- (b) state that after payment of all his debts the value of all his assets is not less than that specified sum.

(3) The petitioner shall, immediately upon the affidavit being filed, serve on the respondent the summons issued under section 7(3), together with a copy of the affidavit.

#### 9. Grounds of objection to recognizance

(1) The respondent may, at the hearing of the summons issued under section 7(3), object to any recognizance on the grounds that –

(a) the amount of any security is insufficient;

- (b) a proposed surety is dead;
- (c) a proposed surety cannot be found; or
- (d) a proposed surety cannot be ascertained for want of a sufficient description in the notice served under section 6 or in the copy of the affidavit served under section 8(3).
- (2) At any time during the trial of an election petition, the Court may
  - (a) increase the amount of security directed on an application under section 7(1), subject to the maximum amount specified in section 44(2) of the Ordinance; and
  - (b) give directions as to the manner and form of giving the increased security.

# 10. Date, time and place for trial of election petition

(1) The petitioner shall, within 28 days of giving security, apply by summons to a judge in chambers for a date, time and place to be fixed for the trial of the election petition.

(2) If the petitioner fails to make an application under subsection (1) within the period specified, any respondent may, within 7 days of the expiry of that period, apply by summons to a judge in chambers for a date, time and place to be fixed for the trial of the election petition.

(3) If no application is made under subsection (1) or (2), the Registrar shall refer the matter to a judge, who shall fix a date, time and place for the trial.

(4) At least 7 days before the day fixed for the trial, the Registrar shall display a notice of the date, time and place of the trial in a conspicuous place in the High Court Building, and send a copy of that notice to -

- (a) the petitioner;
- (b) the respondent;
- (c) the Secretary for Justice;
- (d) the Electoral Affairs Commission;

- (e) the Secretary; and
- (f) the Director.

(5) The Director shall, upon receiving the notice under subsection (4), display it in the same manner in which a copy of an election petition is required to be displayed under section 5(4).

#### 11. Trial of election petition

(1) The trial of an election petition shall be proceeded with even if the respondent ceases to hold the office his election to which is questioned by the election petition.

(2) If more than one election petition is lodged in respect of the same election, the Court may, upon its own motion or application by a party to any of the election petitions, order the election petitions –

- (a) to be consolidated on such terms as it thinks fit; or
- (b) to be tried at the same time or one immediately after another.

(3) On the trial of an election petition, unless the Court otherwise directs, any charge of corrupt or illegal conduct may be inquired into, and evidence relating to such a charge may be received, before any proof of agency on behalf of any candidate at the election in respect of the corrupt or illegal conduct has been received by the Court.

(4) Subject to section 12(4)(a), if the ground or one of the grounds for lodging an election petition is that the elected person was not duly elected and it is claimed that another person was duly elected in his place, at the trial of the election petition, the respondent may give evidence to prove that the other person was not duly elected, in the same manner as if he had lodged an election petition questioning the election of that other person.

#### 12. List of objections in recriminatory case

(1) If the ground or one of the grounds for lodging an election petition is that a person ("elected person") was not duly elected and it is claimed that another person ("unsuccessful candidate") was duly elected in the elected person's place, and the respondent intends to give evidence under section 11(4) to prove that the unsuccessful candidate was not duly elected, the respondent shall –

- (a) at least 7 days before the trial date, file a list of his objections to the election of the unsuccessful candidate on which he intends to rely; and
- (b) serve a copy of the list on the petitioner and the Secretary for Justice.

(2) If it is claimed in an election petition that a candidate at an election, who was not declared to be duly elected, was entitled to have been so declared because the candidate had the number of valid votes that entitled him to be declared duly elected, every party shall –

- (a) at least 7 days before the trial date
  - (i) file a list of the votes which that party contends were wrongly admitted or wrongly rejected; and
  - (ii) state in respect of each such vote the grounds for his contention; and
- (b) serve a copy of the list on every other party and the Secretary for Justice.

(3) Any party to an election petition may inspect, or obtain a copy of, a list filed under subsection (1) or (2).

(4) Except by leave of the Court, and upon such terms as the Court may order, no evidence shall be given –

(a) by a respondent of any objection to the election of the unsuccessful candidate which is not specified in a list filed by him under subsection (1); or

(b) by a party against the admission or rejection of any vote, or as to any ground for contention, which is not specified in a list filed by him under subsection (2).

# **13.** Application for leave to withdraw election petition

(1) The petitioner, or, if there is more than one petitioner, the petitioners jointly, may apply to the Court for leave to withdraw the election petition.

(2) An application under subsection (1) shall be made by way of motion, notice of which shall be filed with the Registrar.

(3) The Registrar shall, upon the filing of the motion, appoint a date, time and place for hearing the motion.

(4) At least 7 days before the day appointed for hearing the motion, the petitioner shall –

- (a) serve a copy of the notice of motion on -
  - (i) the respondent;
  - (ii) the Secretary for Justice;
  - (iii) the Electoral Affairs Commission;
  - (iv) the Secretary; and
  - (v) the Director; and
- (b) publish the notice of motion in at least one Chinese language daily newspaper and one English language daily newspaper circulating in Hong Kong.
- (5) The notice of motion shall -
  - (a) state the grounds on which the application to withdraw the election petition is made; and
  - (b) contain a statement to the effect that at the hearing of the application –

- (i) any person who could have lodged an election petition in respect of the election; or
- (ii) the Secretary for Justice,

may apply to the Court to be substituted as a petitioner.

(6) The Director shall, upon receiving the notice under subsection(4)(a), display it in the same manner in which a copy of an election petition is required to be displayed under section 5(4).

(7) In this section and section 14, any reference to withdrawing an election petition includes a reference to abandoning or ceasing to prosecute an election petition.

# 14. Evidence required for withdrawal of election petition

(1) The application for leave to withdraw an election petition shall be accompanied by affidavits –

- (a) by all parties to the election petition and their solicitors (if any); and
- (b) by the election agents (if any) of all the parties who were candidates at the election.

(2) The Court may dispense with the affidavit of any particular person if it appears to the Court to be just to do so.

(3) Each affidavit shall state that, to the best of the knowledge and belief of the deponent –

(a) no agreement of any kind whatsoever has been made; and

(b) no undertaking has been entered into,

with respect to withdrawing the election petition.

(4) Notwithstanding subsection (3), if an agreement has been made with respect to withdrawing the election petition, the affidavit shall –

(a) set forth that agreement; and

(b) make the statement referred to in subsection (3) subject to the facts deposed under paragraph (a).

(5) The affidavits of the applicant and his solicitor (if any) shall further state the grounds on which the election petition is sought to be withdrawn.

(6) Copies of the affidavits shall be served on the Secretary for Justice at least 7 days before the day appointed for hearing the application for leave to withdraw the election petition.

(7) At the hearing of the application, the Court may –

- (a) hear the Secretary for Justice or his representative in opposition to the application; and
- (b) receive the evidence on oath of any person whose evidence the Secretary for Justice or his representative may consider material.

(8) Where more than one solicitor acts for the petitioner or respondent, whether as agent for another solicitor or otherwise, the affidavit shall be made by all such solicitors.

# **15.** Application to stay or dismiss election petition

(1) A respondent may apply to the Court to stay or dismiss an election petition before the day fixed for the trial of that election petition.

(2) An application under subsection (1) shall be made by way of motion, notice of which shall be filed with the Registrar.

(3) The notice of motion shall state the grounds for the application.

(4) The Registrar shall, upon the filing of the motion, appoint a date, time and place for hearing the motion.

(5) At least 7 days before the day appointed for hearing the motion, the respondent shall serve a copy of the notice of motion on –

(a) the petitioner;

- (b) any other respondent;
- (c) the Secretary for Justice;
- (d) the Electoral Affairs Commission;
- (e) the Secretary; and
- (f) the Director.

(6) The Court may, upon an application under subsection (1), stay or dismiss (as the case may be) an election petition.

#### 16. Notice of termination of election petition

(1) If an election petition is lodged by one petitioner and the election petition is terminated by the death of that petitioner –

- (a) the solicitor acting for him in the proceedings at the date of his death; or
- (b) if no solicitor acts for him, any respondent learning of his death,

shall file a notice to that effect with the Registrar.

(2) If an election petition is lodged by 2 or more petitioners and the election petition is terminated by the death of the last remaining petitioner –

- (a) the solicitor acting for that petitioner in the proceedings at the date of his death; or
- (b) if no solicitor acts for that petitioner, any respondent learning of his death,

shall file a notice to that effect with the Registrar.

#### 17. Notice of death, etc. of respondent

On the happening of an event mentioned in section 48(1)(a) of the Ordinance –

- (a) the respondent concerned;
- (b) in the case of the death of a respondent, the solicitor acting for him in the proceedings at the date of his death; or

(c) if no solicitor acts for the respondent, any petitioner learning of his death,

shall file a notice to that effect with the Registrar.

#### 18. Filing copy particulars

A party giving particulars in accordance with an order or otherwise shall file a copy within 24 hours after delivering the particulars to the party requiring them.

# **19.** Notice of respondent's solicitor and service of notices

(1) A solicitor appointed to act for a respondent in proceedings relating to an election petition shall give notice of his appointment to –

- (a) the petitioner;
- (b) the Secretary for Justice;
- (c) the Electoral Affairs Commission;
- (d) the Secretary; and
- (e) the Director,

and file a copy of the notice with the Registrar.

(2) Subject to section 6(3), any notice required to be served on a respondent to an election petition may be served –

- (a) by delivering or sending it by post to the solicitor acting for the respondent; or
- (b) if no solicitor acts for the respondent
  - (i) by delivering it to the respondent;
  - (ii) by leaving it at, or sending it by post or by recorded delivery or by a registered letter to, his last known address in Hong Kong; or
  - (iii) if the proceedings are before the Court, in such manner as the Court may direct.

(3) Subject to section 6(3), any notice required to be served under these Rules on –

- (a) the Secretary for Justice;
- (b) the Electoral Affairs Commission;
- (c) the Secretary; or
- (d) the Director,

may be served by delivering or sending it by post to the person required to be served.

#### 20. Witnesses' expenses

The reasonable expenses incurred by a person who gives evidence at the trial of an election petition, equal to such sum of money as would be allowed to such person under section 52 of the High Court Ordinance (Cap. 4) if he were a witness in any civil proceedings –

- (a) may be allowed to him by a certificate of the Court or of the Registrar; and
- (b) shall be deemed to be costs of the election petition.

#### 21. Costs of election petition

(1) All costs of, or incidental to, the lodgement of and the proceedings for an election petition shall be borne by the parties to the election petition in such manner and in such proportion as the Court may determine.

(2) Without limiting subsection (1), if it appears to the Court that –

- (a) any costs have been caused by vexatious conduct, unfounded allegations or unfounded objections on the part either of the petitioner or of the respondent; or
- (b) any needless expenses have been incurred or caused on the part either of the petitioner or of the respondent,

the Court may order such costs or expenses to be borne by the parties by whom those costs or expenses have been incurred or caused whether or not those parties are on the whole successful in the proceedings for the election petition.

- (3) If it appears to the Court that -
  - (a) corrupt conduct has not been proved to have been engaged
    in, in relation to the election, by or with the knowledge
    and consent of the respondent to the election petition;
  - (b) the respondent has taken all reasonable steps to prevent corrupt conduct being engaged in on his behalf; and
  - (c) another person or persons have been proved to have been extensively engaged in corrupt conduct, or to have encouraged or promoted extensive corrupt conduct in relation to the election, whether by providing money or otherwise,

the Court may make an order under subsection (4).

- (4) The Court may order
  - (a) the whole or part of the costs to be paid by the person or persons referred to in subsection (3)(c) or any one of those persons; or
  - (b) if the Court is satisfied that the costs cannot be, or are unlikely to be, recovered from one or more of those persons that they shall be borne by any other person out of those persons or by the petitioner or the respondent.

(5) Before making an order under subsection (4), the Court shall give that person or those persons an opportunity to show cause why such an order should not be made.

#### 22. Forfeiture of recognizance

(1) Every person who entered into a recognizance relating to an election petition shall be held to have made default in the recognizance, if -

- (a) the petitioner concerned neglects or refuses, for 3 months after demand, to pay
  - (i) any sum due to any person called as a witness on his behalf or the respondent; or
  - (ii) the costs of that person or the respondent; and
- (b) the neglect or refusal is proved to the Court within 1 year after the demand.

(2) The Court may enforce the sum due under a recognizance forfeited by it in the same manner as a judgment for the payment of money.

## SCHEDULE [s. 4]

### ELECTION PETITION

## IN THE COURT OF FIRST INSTANCE OF THE HIGH COURT OF HONG KONG

### ORIGINAL JURISDICTION

In the Matter of the Village Representative Election Ordinance (2 of 2003)

and

In the Matter of an election for (*Resident Representative/Indigenous Inhabitant Representative*) for (*name of Village*) \*held on (*date of election*)/which was not contested.

- \*1. The Election Petition of (name of Petitioner) states -
  - (a) that the Petitioner was a candidate at the above election;
- (or) \*1. The Election Petition of (names of 5 or more Petitioners) states -
  - (a) that the Petitioners are electors who were entitled to vote at the above election;
  - \*(b) in an election which was not contested, that \*(name of candidate) was a candidate at the election/(name of each candidate) were candidates at the election, and on (date on which that candidate was declared elected or those candidates were declared elected) the Returning Officer for the above-mentioned Village declared, for the purposes of section 36 of the Ordinance, \*that candidate/those candidates to be elected for the above-mentioned Village in a notice published in the Gazette on (*date of publication in Gazette of that notice*) in accordance with the Electoral Procedure (Village Representative Election) Regulation (L.N. 82 of 2003); and
  - (or) \*(b) in a contested election, that a poll was taken on the above day, that (name of each candidate) were candidates at the election, and on (date on which the successful candidate was declared elected or the successful candidates were declared elected) the Returning Officer for the above-mentioned Village declared (name of successful candidate or names of successful candidates) to be elected for the above-mentioned Village in a notice of result of election prepared in accordance with the Electoral Procedure (Village Representative Election) Regulation (L.N. 82 of 2003), and that that notice was published in the Gazette on (date of publication in Gazette of notice of result of election) in accordance with the Regulation; and

- (c) that (ground under section 39(1) of the Ordinance on which the election is questioned and the facts on which the Petitioner relies or the Petitioners rely).
- \*2. The Petitioner therefore requests the Court to determine -
  - (a) whether \*the candidate (to be named)/some other candidates
    (to be named) declared by the Returning Officer for the above-mentioned Village to be elected in the notice \*was/were duly elected;
  - (b) if the Court determines that \*that person/those persons
    \*was/were not duly elected, whether \*the Petitioner/ another candidate (*to be named*)/some other candidates (*to be named*)
    \*was/were duly elected in \*his/their place; and
  - (c) any further or other relief as may be just.
- (or) \*2. The Petitioners therefore request the Court to determine -
  - (a) whether \*the candidate (to be named)/some other candidates
    (to be named) declared by the Returning Officer for the above-mentioned Village to be elected in the notice \*was/were duly elected;
  - (b) if the Court determines that \*that person/those persons
    \*was/were not duly elected, whether \*another candidate (to be named)/some other candidates (to be named) \*was/were duly elected in \*his/their place; and
  - (c) any further or other relief as may be just.

Dated this ...... day of ...... 20 ......

### Signed

\*Petitioner/Petitioners

(or) \*Solicitors

\*This Election Petition is lodged by the \*Petitioner/Petitioners.

(or) \*This Election Petition is lodged by (*name of solicitors*), Solicitors acting for and on behalf of the \*Petitioner/Petitioners.

The address for service is (address to be stated).

It is proposed to serve a copy of this Election Petition on (name of Respondent or names of Respondents) and on the Secretary for Justice.

\*Delete whichever is inapplicable.

Chief Justice

2003

#### **Explanatory Note**

These Rules provide for matters relating to election petitions lodged in relation to an election under the Village Representative Election Ordinance (2 of 2003) including –

- (a) the lodgement and service of election petitions (sections 5 and 6);
- (b) the security for costs to be given in respect of election petitions (sections 7 and 8);
- (c) the trial of election petitions (sections 10, 11 and 12);
- (d) the withdrawal of election petitions (sections 13 and 14);
- (e) the stay, dismissal and termination of election petitions (sections 15 and 16);
- (f) the costs of election petitions (section 21); and
- (g) the form of election petitions (the Schedule).

## Annex B

## BACKGROUND INFORMATION ON VILLAGE REPRESENTATIVE ELECTIONS

## **General Background**

A system of village representation has evolved in the New Territories over the decades. The arrangements for electing Village Representatives have also developed over time. Village Representative elections have been held for some 700 villages, including both indigenous and non-indigenous villages. However, the vast majority of these villages are indigenous villages.

2. Since August 1994, Village Representative elections have been held every four years in accordance with a set of election rules known as the Model Rules for the Conduct of Village Representative Elections, or the "Model Rules". A person elected as a Village Representative has to be approved by the Secretary for Home Affairs.

3. Mr. Chan Wah of Po Toi O in Sai Kung and Mr. Tse Kwan Sang of Shek Wu Tong in Yuen Long challenged the validity of the electoral arrangements for the office of village representatives of these two villages by judicial review proceedings. Both Mr. Chan and Mr. Tse were born and brought up in these two villages and have lived there all their lives. Furthermore, Mr. Chan is married to an indigenous inhabitant. Under the electoral arrangements made in 1999 for the office of village representatives of these two villages, Mr. Chan was excluded as a voter and Mr. Tse was excluded from standing as a candidate on the ground they are not indigenous inhabitants (i.e., persons who can establish patrilineal descent from an ancestor who was a resident of a village that was in existence in the New Territories in 1898).

4. The 1999 electoral arrangements used in the Shek Wu Tong were ruled by the Court of Final Appeal to be inconsistent with Article 21(a) of the Hong Kong Bill of Rights Ordinance, and the arrangements used in Po Toi O were ruled to be inconsistent with both Article 21(a) of the Hong Kong Bill of Rights Ordinance and section 35(3) of the Sex Discrimination Ordinance. The 1999 arrangements were based on the Model Rules. Many other indigenous villages used similar arrangements.

5. The Court of Final Appeal also ruled that the Secretary for Home Affairs, in deciding whether to approve an elected Village Representative, has to consider whether the person elected to represent a village was elected in accordance with electoral arrangements which are consistent with the Bill of Rights and the Sex Discrimination Ordinance.

6. In view of the ruling of the Court of Final Appeal, there have been calls on the Government to bring Village Representative elections under a statutory framework.

# **Review**

7. The Government recognizes the need to reform Village Representative elections to ensure that they are conducted in an open, fair and honest manner and that they are consistent with the Bill of Rights and the Sex Discrimination Ordinance.

8. A working group was set up in April 1999 to review the procedure and arrangements for rural elections. An interim report was made in October 1999. The report recommended that the conduct of Village Representative elections should be brought under statutory control.

9. Having consulted the Heung Yee Kuk and representatives of the Rural Committees, the Home Affairs Bureau and the Home Affairs Department have completed a further review on rural elections. The Village Representative Election Ordinance is enacted to provide for and regulate Village Representative elections.

## The New Arrangements for Village Representative Elections

10. The main elements of the new arrangements for Village Representative elections are as follows:

# General

 (a) Village Representative elections should be held for indigenous villages (Indigenous Villages or Composite Indigenous Villages) and existing village settlements (Existing Villages) now included in the village representation system in the New Territories;

- (b) all Village Representatives should be elected;
- (c) the Electoral Affairs Commission should be empowered to supervise and to make regulations governing the conduct of Village Representative elections;
- (d) all Village Representatives should be members of the Rural Committee of the area in which the Village is located;
- (e) to tie in with the term of office of the Rural Committee office holders and members and that of the Heung Yee Kuk office holders, Village Representatives should hold office for 4 years from 1 April after the election, except that the Village Representatives returned at an election in 2003 will hold office for 3 years and 6 months from 1 October 2003;
- (f) an election for the Village Representative should be held at least 1 but no earlier than 3 months before the new term of the Village Representative is to begin;
- (g) a candidate for the office of village representative should be nominated by at least 5 registered electors;

#### Types of Village Representatives

- (h) there should be two types of Village Representatives: -
  - (i) an Indigenous Inhabitant Representative for an Indigenous Village or a Composite Indigenous Village; and
  - (ii) a Resident Representative for an Existing Village;
- (i) an Indigenous Inhabitant Representative (or Representatives) for an Indigenous Village or a Composite Indigenous Village should be elected by an electorate comprising the indigenous inhabitants of the Village;
- (j) the functions of an Indigenous Inhabitant Representative for an Indigenous Village or a Composite Indigenous Village are to reflect views on the affairs of the Village (including the affairs of the Existing Village concerned) on behalf of the indigenous inhabitants of the Village and to deal with all

affairs relating to the lawful traditional rights and interests, and the traditional way of life of those indigenous inhabitants;

- (k) a Resident Representative for an Existing Village should be elected by an electorate comprising the residents living in the Village;
- the function of a Resident Representative for an Existing Village is to reflect views on the affairs of the Village on behalf of the residents of the Village;
- (m) a person could register as an elector for both an Indigenous Village (or a Composite Indigenous Village) and an Existing Village, if he or she is both an indigenous inhabitant of the Indigenous Village and a resident in the Existing Village;
- (n) no person should be allowed to stand as a candidate in more than one Village at the same time;

## Number of Village Representatives

- (o) the current number of Indigenous Inhabitant Representatives (ranging from 1 to 5) for an Indigenous Village or a Composite Indigenous Village would be retained;
- (p) there would be one Resident Representative for an Existing Village;

## **Transitional Arrangements**

- (q) since the terms of office of the Village Representatives returned at an election in 2003 will begin on 1 October 2003, the existing terms of office of Heung Yee Kuk office holders should be extended until 30 September 2003, and the existing terms of office of Rural Committee office holders and members and Village Representatives approved by the Secretary for Home Affairs should be extended until 30 September 2003, to ensure that there is no gap in their terms of office; and
- (r) the next terms of office of Heung Yee Kuk office holders and Rural Committee office holders and members should be 3

years and 6 months so as to re-align their terms of office with the normal 4 years' term.